RECEIVED

Feb 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2025-002132

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bryan Doby, Circuit Court Judge

Cynthia Veronese
Appellant

v.

Jarrel Wigger, and Wigger Law Firm, Inc.
Respondents

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Cynthia Veronese
PO Box 51
Boca Raton, FL 33429
(954) 556-6160
Cynthiamv123@yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err and abuse his discretion by issuing an order of dismissal with prejudice due to a technicality under Rule 12(b)(6), improperly including as true facts in the order of dismissal the defendants' false statements which were contrary to the facts of the Amended Complaint, but excluding factual and legal conclusions to allow the reader to follow the legal reasoning behind such a prejudicial decision?
2. Did the trial judge demonstrate bias against the plaintiff, violate due process and abuse his discretion by denying her an opportunity to be heard before dismissing her complaint with prejudice?
3. Did the trial judge commit an error and abuse of discretion by failing to address the allegations and evidence of fraud and fraud upon the Court presented by the plaintiff against the defendants before dismissing the plaintiff's case?
4. Did the trial judge err by failing to consider matters outside the pleadings that were presented and not excluded during a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), without converting the motion into one for Summary Judgment under Rule 56, and allowing time for both parties to prepare for an evidentiary hearing on the allegations of fraud by defendants?
5. Did the trial judge commit an error and abuse of discretion by not intervening when the defendants' attorney made three false statements during the hearing on their motions to dismiss, despite the plaintiff's protests, and allowed the false statements to become part of the decision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 14, 2025, Appellant, Cynthia Veronese (“Veronese”), filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County, South Carolina, claiming professional negligence (Diligence, Conflict of Interest, and Terminating Representation) against Respondents Jarrel Wigger, and Wigger Law Firm, Inc., whose error in neglecting her case for more than eight months caused financial losses to Veronese in a personal injury/assault and battery lawsuit that she intended to file.

On May 13, 2025, the Respondents submitted their Answer and Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) (failure to state a cause of action) and Statute 15-36-100 (failure to file an expert affidavit).

On June 2, 2025, the Appellant filed an Amended Complaint, alleging extrinsic fraud and fraud upon the Court in the defendants’ responses in their answer to the original complaint.

On July 2, 2025, the Respondents filed an Answer to Amended Complaint and a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(6) and also SC Code of Laws 15-36-100.

On August 25, 2025, the Honorable Bryan Doby heard arguments on the Motions to Dismiss, and by order entered August 25, 2025, the Judge granted the Motion to Dismiss “without prejudice”. On September 8, 2025, Judge Doby filed a final order of dismissal, at this time “with prejudice”, including in the order false facts obtained from the Defendants’ Answers which were contrary to the facts of the Amended Complaint, and excluding findings of fact or conclusions of law to support the change. On September 12, 2025, the plaintiff filed a Motion for Reconsideration 59 (e). By Form 4 dated September 17, 2025, the Motion for Reconsideration was denied. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A ruling on a motion to dismiss a claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, must be based solely on the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. *United Educational Distributors, LLC, v. Educational Testing Service*, 350 S.C. 7, 13, 564 S.E.2d 324, 328 (Ct. App. 2002). The motion will not be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. *Washington v. Lexington County Jail*, 337 S.C. 400, 404, 523 S.E.2d 204, 206 (Ct. App.1999); *McCormick v. England*, 328 S.C. 627, 632–33, 494 S.E.2d 431, 433 (Ct. App.1997).

“[A] judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts.” *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991). Therefore, pleadings in a case should be construed liberally and the trial court and this Court must presume all well pled facts

to be true so that substantial justice is done between the parties. See *Justice v. Pantry*, 330 S.C. 37, 42, 496 S.E.2d 871, 874 (Ct. App.1998). “The cause of action should not be struck merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.” *McCormick*, 328 S.C. at 633, 494 S.E.2d at 434. Viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, the facts alleged and inferences deducible therefrom may entitle Plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.

"Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court." *Wiegand v. US Auto. Ass'n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011).

“When matters outside the pleadings are presented and not excluded by the court on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56.” *Samara v. United States* (C.C.A.2d, 1942) 129 F.(2d) 594, cert. den. (1942) 317 U.S. 686; *Boro Hall Corp. v. General Motors Corp.* (C.C.A.2d, 1942) 124 F.(2d) 822, cert. den. (1943) 317 U.S. 695. See also *Kithcart v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.* (C.C.A.8th, 1945) 150 F.(2d) 997, aff'g 62 F.Supp. 93.

To recover for negligence, a plaintiff must show: (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) a breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach. *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. James C. Greene & Co.*, 290 S.C. 171, 348 S.E.2d 617 (Ct.App.1986). The absence of any one of these elements renders the cause of action insufficient. *South Carolina State Ports Authority v. Booz–Allen & Hamilton Inc.*, 289 S.C. 373, 346 S.E.2d 324 (1986). The existence of a duty owed is a question of law for the courts. *Ballou v. Sigma Nu General Fraternity*, 291 S.C. 140, 352 S.E.2d 488 (Ct.App.1986).

STATUTE. Section 15-36-100. Complaint in actions for damages alleging professional negligence; contemporaneous affidavit of expert specifying negligent act or omission. SC Code § 15-36-100:

(B) Except as provided in Section 15-79-125, in an action for damages alleging professional negligence against a professional licensed by or registered with the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G), [in this case (G)(2) attorneys at law], the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit.

(C)(1) The contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) does not apply to any case in which the period of limitation will expire, or there is a good faith basis to believe it will expire on a claim stated in the complaint, within ten days of the date of filing and, because of the time constraints, the plaintiff alleges that an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared. In such a case, the plaintiff has forty-five days after the filing of the complaint to supplement the pleadings with the affidavit. Upon motion, the trial court, after hearing and for good cause, may extend the time as the court determines justice requires. If an affidavit is not filed within the period specified in this subsection or as extended by the trial court and the defendant against whom an affidavit should have been filed alleges, by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading that the plaintiff has failed to file the requisite affidavit, the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 14, 2025, Appellant, Cynthia Veronese (“Veronese”), filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County, South Carolina, claiming professional negligence (Diligence, Conflict of Interest, and Terminating Representation) against Respondents Jarrel Wigger, and Wigger Law Firm, Inc. (Amended Complaint, Para. #6), whose errors caused financial losses to Veronese in a personal injury/assault and battery lawsuit that she intended to file. In fact, they represented her from August 14, 2021 to April 19, 2022, but, without performing any work on her case for over 8 months and without any prior notice, the Defendants terminated the Plaintiff’s representation and billed her \$35 for the entire period they pursued her case, demonstrating that no investigation was conducted. This created a conflict of interest, because the Defendants prioritized the interests of the defendant – rather than their client’s (the Plaintiff) - by dropping her case too close to the statutory deadline and by failing to take reasonable steps to protect their client’s legal position, such as providing her with reasonable advance notice and allowing her time to retain new counsel. By treating the case of their client with such disregard, Defendants consequently impaired the ability of the Plaintiff to obtain effective representation by new counsel. (Amended Complaint, Paras. 7-8). The Plaintiff filed the underlying claim “pro se” and was able to settle her case in the District Court, but, the Defendants’ negligence, which was contrary to the interests of their client, resulted in substantial pecuniary harm and damages to the Plaintiff, as she had to settle her case for a lesser amount because she did not have an attorney to protect her interests. Furthermore, due to Defendants’ negligence, the Plaintiff’s rights for emotional distress (actual) damages along with her underlying claim could not be protected because, upon termination of representation, the Defendants failed to take reasonable steps to protect the Plaintiff’s position, such as allowing her

time to hire new counsel.(Amended Complaint, Paras. 9, 12, 13). The Veronese Complaint alleged facts showing that the Respondents were negligent in pursuing Veronese's claim, and that one or more of the negligent actions or related omissions caused her substantial financial losses.

On May 13, 2025, the Respondents submitted an Answer and a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), containing a significant number of inaccurate statements.

On June 2, 2025, the Appellant filed an Amended Complaint, alleging extrinsic fraud and fraud upon the Court through the defendants' responses in their answer to the original complaint.

On July 2, 2025, the Respondents filed an Answer to Amended Complaint repeating the same false allegations and misrepresentations as in their initial Answer rather than addressing these, and filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(6) (failure to state a cause of action) and also SC Code of Laws 15-36-100 (failure to file an expert affidavit).

On August 19, 2025, because an expert witness had explained to the Appellant that "the conflicting narratives between the parties about what actually happened compromised the integrity of the case, and that only a judge's decision on all the allegations could provide a clear account of the facts so that an affidavit from an expert could be issued", the Appellant submitted to the trial Judge, with a copy to the defense counsel, a Motion to Strike portions of the Defendants' Answers, detailing in a clear, concise and substantiated manner the same allegations that appeared more liberally in the Amended Complaint, stating that the Defendants had committed substantive fraud because there were false allegations about core facts of this case in their Answers, and evidence demonstrated that the Respondents were aware that their statements were false before making them to the trial Court, with the apparent intention of influencing the

expert and the Court's decision. The evidence attached to the Motion to Strike mentioned above consists of written communications exchanged between the Plaintiff and the Defendants during the period in which they represented her. The Appellant requested from the trial Judge, by email, a continuance, explaining that a decision made without first analyzing the unreliable facts supporting the Defendant's motions to dismiss, and also without examining how the defendants' false and misleading statements were prejudicing her ability to obtain an affidavit and pursue the case, would not contribute to the proper administration of Justice. The Judge denied continuance and instructed the Appellant to "argue her motion and also request for a continuance at the same hearing" (on the Defendants' motions to dismiss) that was going to take place two days later, on August 21st at 2:30pm, "that way everything would be on the court record".

ARGUMENT

ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN REFUSING CONTINUANCE: The trial judge denied plaintiff's request for a continuance to address the false statements in defendants' answers, which directly impacted her ability to obtain an expert affidavit. A court's refusal to grant a continuance is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and that discretion is abused when the refusal prevents a party from presenting their case effectively. *United States v. 5.1 Acres of Land*, 409 F.3d 1306, 1316 (11th Cir. 2005). "A district court abuses its discretion by denying a continuance when the denial deprives a party of meaningful opportunity to present its case."; *Hynes v. Grumman Aerospace Corp.*, 745 F.2d 1285, 1291 (11th Cir. 1984). "The court has broad discretion in managing its docket, but that discretion is not unlimited and must be exercised to ensure fair adjudication."; *Johnson v. Clark*, 309 S.C. 405, 424 S.E.2d 218 (Ct. App. 1992). "The decision to grant or deny a continuance is within the discretion of the trial court, but that discretion is subject to reversal if abused."

On August 21, 2025, the Plaintiff attended, in person, the hearing held by the same trial Judge, during which she was interrupted by this judge each of the thirteen times (as recorded in the transcript) that she attempted to argue her case and evidence of fraud upon the Court by the Defendants, despite having been instructed by this same Judge to do so.

In addition, as the transcripts will show, during the hearing there was no discussion of any of the facts included in the Amended Complaint, either those relating to negligence, or those relating to the plaintiff's allegations of fraud in the Defendants' responses; nor was there any guidance by the Judge regarding the Plaintiff's right to amend the complaint.

At the beginning of the hearing, **the defense counsel made the first false statement to the Court, central to the case.** Attorney Mr. McCarty said: "He (the Respondent) was approached by Mrs. Veronese about representing her. He reviewed the case and decided not to take it. That is spelled out in the pleadings. That's all I need to say. Her claim from the pleadings seems to be that what he did wrong was that he failed to take her case. Okay? An attorney does not have to take a case. You know, there's no requirement for that. So under 12 (b)(6), we feel like the complaint should be dismissed for *that reason*, for failure to state any claim." (Transcripts, p. 5, lines 11-20). This statement is false. The Amended Complaint does not allege that "what the defendant did wrong was that he failed to take her case". The Plaintiff immediately replied that the Complaint was about the fact that the Defendants took her case, kept it for more than eight months, did not perform any work, and left the case, without saying a word to her, almost at the end of the Statute of Limitations, (Transcripts, p. 6, lines 12-17). This information also appears in the Amended Complaint (para. 8). In addition, the trial Judge confirmed on the record

(Transcript, p. 8, lines 12-14) that he had read the Plaintiff's motion to strike, and the Defendants' fee agreement was attached thereunto (Motion to Strike - Exhibit 1). Therefore, the Judge knew that the Defendant's attorney was not telling the truth, but never challenged him, acting in clear abuse of discretion. When a judge is aware that an attorney is not telling the truth about core facts of a case in court but does not take action, it raises significant ethical and legal concerns, because such behavior undermines the integrity of the judicial process. The judge's failure to intervene had repercussions for the case at hand, leading to an unfavorable and unjust ruling. The legal system relies on the honesty and integrity of those who participate in it, and, when an defendant's attorney acts with dishonesty and the judge fails to address it, the credibility of the entire proceeding is seriously damaged.

As described above, at the beginning of the hearing the defense counsel made a false statement to the Court central to the case. Judge Doby had confirmed on the record that he read the plaintiff's motion to strike before the hearing (Transcripts, p. 8, lines 12-14), therefore he must have been aware that, attached to it, there was clear and convincing evidence of fraud upon the Court through eight false statements in the defendants' answers, and, at that point, the defense counsel verbally introduced for the Court's consideration another false statement, the ninth in this lawsuit (and the case had not even entered the discovery stage yet). During that hearing, the defendants' counsel presented two more false statements that will be discussed below.

The trial judge never excluded the evidence of eight false statements made by the defendants in their answers and presented in the plaintiff's motion to strike, nor excluded the false statements made by the defense counsel while standing in the Courtroom during the hearing (the defendants' false statements that were contested by the plaintiff later appeared in the final order

of dismissal as if they were true facts). When matters outside the pleadings are presented and not excluded by the court on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56. *Samara v. United States* (C.C.A.2d, 1942) 129 F.(2d) 594, cert. den. (1942) 317 U.S. 686; *Boro Hall Corp. v. General Motors Corp.* (C.C.A.2d, 1942) 124 F.(2d) 822, cert. den. (1943) 317 U.S. 695. See also *Kithcart v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.* (C.C.A.8th, 1945) 150 F.(2d) 997, aff'g 62 F.Supp. 93. This means that all parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to present all material that is pertinent to the motion. Judge Doby should have converted the motion to dismiss into one for summary judgement and allowed both parties to argue the evidence of their allegations, and/or compared the defense counsel's untruthful statements against the Amended Complaint, and sanctioned him for the falsehood(s).

Duty to Consider Fraud Allegations Before Summary Judgment Dismissal: When a Rule 12(b)(6) motion must be treated as a Rule 56 motion because matters outside the pleadings were presented, all parties must be given reasonable opportunity to present material pertinent to the motion. This is particularly critical where fraud upon the court is alleged, as such allegations strike at the heart of the judicial process. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986) "When a motion for summary judgment is properly made and supported, the opposing party must set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) "The burden of establishing the nonexistence of a genuine issue of material fact rests upon the movant... The non-moving party must then come forward with evidence demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue." *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986) "Summary judgment is appropriate when the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could not return a verdict for the non-moving party."

Strangely, Judge Doby did not see as a serious ethical and legal violation the fact that the defense counsel made three false statements while standing in his Courtroom and looking directly at him, while the plaintiff protested but was ignored.

Right to Confront False Testimony in Court: The trial judge's failure to intervene when defense counsel made false statements during the hearing violated not only due process but also the right of a party to confront false testimony presented to the court. When a judge is aware that an attorney is presenting false statements of material fact and fails to take action, it undermines the integrity of the judicial process and denies the opposing party a fair hearing. *Chambers v. NASCO, Inc.*, 501 U.S. 32, 50 (1991) "Courts have inherent power to manage their proceedings and to sanction litigants for improper conduct... This includes the power to sanction attorneys who make false statements to the court." *Roadway Express, Inc. v. Piper*, 447 U.S. 752, 766 (1980) "Bad faith conduct by an attorney that unnecessarily increases the cost of litigation justifies an award of attorney's fees under the court's inherent power." *In re Kearney*, 342 F.3d 1069, 1072 (8th Cir. 2003) "Courts have the inherent power to discipline attorneys for conduct that obstructs the administration of justice, including making false statements to the court." **South Carolina Supreme Court Case: In re Rule 415, SCACR, 299 S.C. 501, 386 S.E.2d 120 (1989)*. Attorneys have a duty of candor toward the tribunal and cannot knowingly make false statements of fact or law.

In fact, the trial judge rewarded the defense counsel's conduct by asking him to write the final order of dismissal, acting in clear bias and abuse of discretion. Obviously, the final order of dismissal written by the defense counsel was modified from the initial "without prejudice" entered by Judge Doby to "with prejudice," without any plausible explanation; the statements that had already been substantiated by the plaintiff as being false were included in the order as

true facts, and no findings of fact and conclusions of law were cited to allow the reader to follow the legal reasoning behind such a prejudicial decision, and also to allow for a meaningful review by the appellate court.

A dismissal with prejudice due to a curable technicality was improper; it was also a severe sanction, which would have been proper only if the Appellant had acted irresponsibly or in bad faith, or displayed unethical behavior, which did not happen in this case, very much the contrary. Faced with this situation, the Appellant, in spite of having been allowed by the judge to appear via videoconference, undertook a long and expensive international flight from Brazil to Charleston due to the seriousness of the contentions on record. By appearing in person, she wanted the judge to see that she was very serious about her allegations, that she was there to answer any questions he could have for her; and she also wanted to confront the defendants. Unfortunately, she did not have a fair hearing. Each of the thirteen times detailed on the transcript that she tried to raise the issue of the false allegations by defendants, the judge did not allow her to be heard. *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008) ("The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review."); *Wilson*, 352 S.C. at 452, 574 S.E.2d at 733 ("[D]ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." (alteration in original) (quoting *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972))); *id.* at 452, 574 S.E.2d at 734 ("Where important decisions turn on questions of fact, due process often requires an opportunity to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses." (quoting *Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, 301 S.C. 326, 329, 391 S.E.2d 866, 867 (1990))); *id.* at 453, 574 S.E.2d at 734 ("Confrontation includes the right to be physically present during the presentation of testimony."); *id.* ("Due process is not violated where a party is

not given the opportunity to confront witnesses so long as there has been a meaningful opportunity to be heard."); *Seabrook v. Knox*, 369 S.C. 191, 197, 631 S.E.2d 907, 910 (2006) ("Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of 'liberty' or 'property' interests within the curable meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment." (quoting *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 332 (1976)));

After thirteen attempts to argue her case which were either interrupted by the judge or left without a response, the plaintiff told the judge that she had not heard him mentioning, not even once, the evidence that she had submitted refuting the defendants' false statements contained in her motion to strike. The judge replied that all he had in front of him were the motions to dismiss. The plaintiff asked if the motion to strike was going to be even looked at, and the judge said that it was not in his roster. Throughout the entire hearing, the judge asked the plaintiff about the expert witness affidavit, and she replied that there was a delay due to the defendants' actions, and that the fraudulent allegations contained in the defendants' answers needed to be removed from the record before an expert could issue an affidavit, but the judge ignored her assertions.

At the end of the hearing, the plaintiff tried to reason with Judge Doby: "-Your Honor, if you dismiss the case, we're never going to get to the motion to strike," meaning that the respondents would never be held accountable for their actions, leading to an unfair outcome and a manifest injustice. The judge answered: "-I don't know what I'm going to do in this case yet," and ended the hearing without a decision.

On August 25, 2025, the trial judge entered the initial order of dismissal “without prejudice” on the grounds that the plaintiff had failed to attach an expert witness affidavit as required by Statute 15-36-100 and that “additional time was already given to allow the plaintiff the opportunity to obtain this statutorily required affidavit”. **The problem with the trial judge’s decision was that it was very likely influenced by the defendants’ attorney second false statement during the hearing (and tenth false statement by defendants and their counsel in this case).** Mr. McCarty stated: “-Due to the fact that she is *pro se*, the judge gave her until now to come up with an affidavit.” (Transcript, p. 5, line 25, p.6, line 1). The plaintiff had received only one 26-day continuance (from one motions term to the next) from the administrative judge, but an administrative judge could not rule on the plaintiff’s allegations of extrinsic fraud and fraud upon the Court through the defendants’ responses in their Answers, which were preventing the plaintiff from obtaining an affidavit. During the hearing, the trial judge verified the previous orders, and confirmed that the case had been briefly continued only once by the administrative judge (Transcript, p. 10, lines 4-23), so he knew that the plaintiff had never received a long continuance, nor disobeyed any court orders.

Equitable Tolling and Extension of Time for Affidavit: While §15-36-100(C)(1) provides a 45-day extension when the statute expires within 10 days, courts have inherent equitable powers to extend deadlines when the failure to comply was caused by the opposing party's misconduct. Defendants' false statements created genuine disputes of material facts that prevented plaintiff from obtaining an affidavit, warranting equitable tolling. *Holland v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 631, 645 (2010). "Equitable tolling is appropriate when a plaintiff has been pursuing his rights diligently but some extraordinary circumstance stood in his way". *Irwin v. Department of Veterans Affairs*, 498 U.S. 89, 96 (1990). "Equitable tolling is an appropriate remedy when the opposing party has

engaged in misconduct that prevents the plaintiff from meeting a deadline."; *Brown v. Burns International Security Services*, 357 S.C. 526, 593 S.E.2d 690 (2004). South Carolina courts recognize equitable tolling principles in appropriate circumstances.

As demonstrated in the Amended Complaint and Plaintiff's Motions to Strike and for Reconsideration, the Plaintiff's fraud claims were well-founded and should have survived a motion to dismiss.

The South Carolina Supreme Court reiterated the rule that extrinsic fraud is necessary to set aside a judgment based on fraud in *Chewning v. Ford Motor Company*, 354 S.C. 72, 80, 579 S.E.2d 605, 610 (2003). The Court explained: "Extrinsic fraud is 'fraud that induces a person not to present a case or deprives a person of the opportunity to be heard.'" *Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 19, 594 S.E.2d 478, 483 (2004) (citing *Chewning v. Ford Motor Co.*, 354 S.C. 72, 81(2003)). Relief is granted for extrinsic fraud on the theory that because the fraud prevented a party from fully exhibiting and trying his case, there has never been a real contest before the court on the subject matter of the action." This is what happened in this case.

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