RECEIVED

May 14 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bryan Doby, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002132

Cynthia Veronese, Appellant,

v.

Jarrel Wigger and Wigger Law Firm, Inc., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

I. Keith McCarty, Esquire
S.C. Bar #: 66447
768 St. Andrews Blvd.
Charleston, SC 29407
(843) 793-1272
ikeithmccarty@gmail.com
Attorney for Respondents

Cynthia Veronese, Pro Se
P.O. Box 51
Boca Raton, FL 33429
(954) 556-6160
Cynthiamv123@yahoo.com
Appellant

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

ARGUMENTS

- I. BECAUSE THE COURT DISMISSED THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR FAILURE TO SHOW JUSTICIBLE ISSUES, DISMISSAL OF THE CASE WAS PROPER UNDER SCRCP, RULE 12(B)(6).**

In South Carolina, dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is proper when the complaint fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action – that is, when no justiciable issue is presented. Neither the Plaintiff's Complaint, nor her Amended Complaint set forth any facts, that if taken as true, would entitle the Appellant to relief. *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137 (1999); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 6025 (1995). "The Ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss must be based solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the Complaint." *State Board of Medical Examiners v. Fenwick Hall, Inc.*, 300 S.C. 274, 387 S.E.2d 458 (1990) Plaintiff is not entitled to relief under any cognizable legal theory. Dismissal is also proper where no duty exists. Just because Defendants agree to review Plaintiff's case doesn't mean they are stuck with filing a meritless claim. Plaintiff has paid for nothing and if Defendants feel there is no case, nothing prevents them from exiting the case. To rule otherwise would cause Plaintiff attorneys to refuse to review and investigate cases. To make attorneys file cases they feel are meritless or can not be proven would make them commit an ethical violation by filing a meritless case. (R. pp. 28-38).

"On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the [circuit] court. That standard requires the [c]ourt to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case." (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)); § 15-36-100 (governing the filing requirements for complaints alleging professional negligence); § 15-36-100(B) (**requiring a plaintiff alleging professional negligence to submit with his complaint an expert witness affidavit that "must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available**

evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit"); § 15-36-100(C)(1) (allowing a plaintiff additional time to file an expert affidavit after filing his complaint: forty-five days or as extended by the circuit court upon motion); *id.* ("If an affidavit is not filed within the period specified in this subsection or as extended by the [circuit] court and the defendant against whom an affidavit should have been filed alleges, by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading that the plaintiff has failed to file the requisite affidavit, the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim."). *Rowe v. Bon Secours-St. Francis Xavier Hospital, Inc.*, 2015-UP-288 (S.C. App. June 17, 2015).

The Appellant's Complaint and Amended Complaint consist of argumentary and conclusory allegations unsupported by facts. (R. pp. 13-27 and pp. 110-116). The Appellant was not able to show any facts on which a cause of action is supported against the Respondents; therefore, dismissal was appropriate.

II. BECAUSE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO FILE AN EXPERT WITNESS AFFIDAVIT CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH HER COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS, SECTION 15-36-100, DISMISSAL OF HER CLAIM WAS PROPER. EVEN IF APPELLANT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH THE RULE, SHE HAS NOW HAD 11 MONTHS TO PRODUCE AN AFFIDAVIT OF MERIT AND HAS NOT DONE SO.

Appellant filed a complaint alleging professional negligence against Respondents, a licensed professional under South Carolina law. However, Appellant failed to file the expert affidavit required by § 15-36-100 at the time of filing the complaint and thereafter with the filing of her Amended Complaint. Respondents moved to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRC, arguing that compliance with §15-36-100 is a mandatory prerequisite to maintaining a professional negligence action. The Common Pleas Court gave Appellant several continuances to file an Affidavit, despite the strict time limitations in the Statute. After briefing and argument,

the circuit court granted Respondents' motion and dismissed the complaint. Appellant now seeks reversal. Section 15-36-100(B) provides that in any action for damages alleging professional negligence, the plaintiff **must** file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness specifying at least one negligent act or omission. The statute is mandatory. The use of the word "must" reflects legislative intent to create a condition precedent to maintaining the action. Appellant did not file the required affidavit with the complaint, nor anytime thereafter. Therefore, dismissal was proper. Because the affidavit requirement is a statutory condition precedent, noncompliance renders the complaint legally insufficient. South Carolina appellate courts have consistently affirmed dismissal in such circumstances to uphold legislative intent and prevent unsupported professional negligence claims. Allowing the action to proceed without compliance would nullify the statute's gatekeeping function. Plaintiff had continuing opportunities to hire attorneys for over two years from the date of the alleged incident and apparently none took her case, and she had a number of months after she filed suit to continue to find attorneys who provide any testimony that a breach of malpractice had occurred. None have. Since that time, the Plaintiff has had four years to obtain an expert from when she was first notified that Defendant Wigger Law Firm was closing her file and provide an affidavit of such expert to the filed Summons and Complaint in this matter and thus, her failure to do so rightfully resulted in dismissal of her claim. Plaintiff clearly had the time and opportunity to do so and has failed to comply to this day, all the while requesting more time to find an expert.

III. BECAUSE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESENT JUSTICIBLE ISSUES, THERE WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE DECISION TO DISMISS THE APPELLANT'S CASE.

South Carolina's highest court acknowledged and upheld dismissal where the complaint

failed to state a viable claim, showing no abuse of discretion in dismissing on that basis. *Spence v. Cromer*, 368 S.C. 106, 628 S.E.2d 869 (S.C. 2006). The Circuit Court in this matter did not abuse his discretion in dismissing the Appellant’s case, as the Court, in response to the Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion, stated, “Having duly considered the motion to alter or amend of the Plaintiff, this Court has determined that its original Order dated September 8, 2025, is fully supported by the law and the evidence and is hereby ratified and reconfirmed. The motion to alter or amend the earlier Order is therefore DENIED.” (R. pp. 10-112). Additionally, the “Appellant filed a motion to recuse the Court from further jurisdiction in this case. This motion was filed after the Court ruled against her in an earlier Order. The Court denied the appellants motion for recusal. The appellant cannot and should not be allowed the opportunity to argue this matter to another judge simply because she did not agree with the Court’s earlier ruling. Therefore, the motion for recusal is denied.” *Order of September 17, 2025*. (R. pp. 10-12). “An abuse of discretion occurs either when a court is controlled by some error of law, or where the order is based upon findings of fact lacking evidentiary support.” *Patel v. Patel*, 359 S.C. 515, 529, 599 S.E.2d 114, 121 (2004). *See also, Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). None of that is present here.

IV. APPELLANT ATTEMPTS AT THIS LATE DATE TO TURN THIS RULE 12(b)(6) RULING INTO A RULE 56 MOTION.

Appellant attempts to pour information into her brief improperly. While Respondents obviously disagree with these rantings, Respondents do not address the improper submissions and just note the Respondents object to the rantings and ravings of the Appellant that are improper here and not based on factual information.

CONCLUSION

The trial court did not err in granting the Respondents' Motions to Dismiss and dismissing the Appellant's case. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering a dismissal. For these reasons, and due to the Court's lack of error in dismissing this matter, this dismissal should be affirmed and her appeal dismissed.